I. IDENTIFICATION OF PARTY AND CITATION 
TO APPELLATE DECISION 

The Petitioners are Scott Akrie and Volcan Group Inc, dba 

Netlogix. They seek review of the Washington Court of Appeals decision 

of December 23, 2013, reversing the decision of the trial court and 

increasing the penalty petitioners owed under RCW 4.24.525(6)(A) from 

$10,000 to $50,000, thereby awarding penalty damages to defendants that 

as a matter of law did not engage in protected activity under the SLAPP 

statute.

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND RELIEF 
SOUGHT 

A. Whether the $10,000 SLAPP penalty applies cumulatively to 

every party in the lawsuit, even those who did not engage in any anti-

SLAPP protected activity. NO. The anti-SLAPP penalty should only 

apply to the individual parties who undertook constitutionally protected 

activity. 

B. Whether the imposition of a cumulative SLAPP penalty without 

limits, i.e. $10,000 per nominal party without restriction and regardless of 

whether there are 2 or 200 parties, and regardless of whether 1 or 100 of 

them undertook constitutionally protected activity, violates the right to 
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Petition under the Washington State Constitution and the Eighth' and 

Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. 

C. Whether and at what point a cumulative award of statutory 

damages that is vastly out of proportion to the relief sought in the 

underlying lawsuit ceases to be narrowly tailored to achieving the 

compelling state interests furthered by the anti-SLAPP statute and violates 

the Excessive Fine clause of the Eight Amendment and the Fourteenth 

Amendment Right to Due Process. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Attorneys at the Davis, Wright law firm secretly and illegally 

recorded two witness interviews, without the knowledge or consent of the 

witness. They claimed this otherwise criminal conduct was not a violation 

of RCW 9.73.030 because they were doing it to obtain evidence for a 

lawsuit. The Federal District Court, the King County Superior Court and 

Division I (in this casei looked the other way, permitting not only the 

criminal conduct, but permitting Davis Wright and its clients to profit 

1 Amendment VIII, is the same as Article I, section 14 of the Washington 
Constitution: Excessive bail shall not be required, excessive fines 
imposed, nor cruel punishment inflicted. 
2 In a companion case, Dillon v. Davis Wright, Division I reversed the 
superior court and called out the criminal conduct for what it was. See 
Appendix, Cause No. 69300-0-I. 
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from it. In doing so, they not only placed these attorneys above and 

beyond the reach of the law, but they financially rewarded them and their 

clients for criminal conduct in the course of a lawsuit- precisely because it 

occurred in the course of a lawsuit. Further down the rabbit hole, the 

court system cannot fall. Further, the Division I opinion allows an 

essentially unlimited, cumulative expansion of the $10,000 per part 

penalty, far out of proportion to the case and reason in general. Further, 

the $10,000 penalty was expanded to $50,000 to give to parties who 

unequivocally did not even engage in any free speech or protected 

conduct, based on an overly strict and literal interpretation of the SLAPP 

Statute itself. Finally, under no circumstances should a Court of Law ever 

apply a statutory penalty to financially reward the criminal conduct of a 

lawyer, committed during the course of litigation. 

The facts have been set forth in the December 23, 2013 opinion in 

this case (See Appendix), and in more detail in the same Court's January 

21, 2014 published opinion on a consolidated case Dillon v. Seattle 

Deposition Reporters No 69300-0-1. This Petition asks for reversal of the 

December 23, 2013 decision of the Court of Appeals that reversed and 

remanded trial court decision limiting penalty damages under the SLAPP 

statute to a single $10,000 penalty in order to increase it to $50,000. 
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In the January 21 published opinion in the companion case the 

Court of Appeals held that recording witness interviews, by these 

attorneys, is absolutely not protected constitutional activity involving 

public participation and petition. However, in its December 23 Opinion, 

the Court of Appeals awarded the same attorneys $50,000.00- that's 

correct- awarded them- for that very same criminal recording work. 

The differing results demonstrate that the penalties to a plaintiff 

under the anti-SLAPP statute are grossly unfair and instead place a 

chilling effect on a plaintiffs right to petition, when the purpose of the 

statute was to do the exact opposite. The civil penalty damages are also 

grossly out of proportion with the Petitioner's offense, which was seeking 

to remedy unlawful conduct under the Privacy Act. Furthermore, Dillion 

v. Seattle Deposition Reporters, No. 69300-0-1, makes clear that recording 

a telephone conversation is not activity protected by the SLAPP statute, 

such that a $50,000 fine for Petitioners seeking to remedy that very 

activity violates the Eight and Fourteenth Amendments of the constitution. 

A. Facts In The Record 

During the course of a contract dispute in Federal District Court, 

an employee of the plaintiff- Jason Dillon- got in a fight with his boss and 

quit. He was mad and he wanted to put the hurt on his former boss and 

friend. He called up the T-Mobile lawyers and told them a bunch ofbad 
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things, half-truths and non-truths, that he thought would hurt his former 

boss. Later when he settled down, he recanted and when the T-Mobile 

lawyers tried to get him to sign a sworn declaration to use in the lawsuit, 

Mr. Dillon refused. Mad at his boss was one thing, perjury another. 

However, unbeknownst to Mr. Dillon, Jim Grant, an attorney at 

the Davis Wright law firm, had recorded the telephone conversation 

without his knowledge or consent. After Dillon refused to swear under 

oath that the information he had provided to Grant was true and correct, 

Grant decided that he would file parts of the transcribed conversation with 

the Court in hopes that he would not be penalized for RPC, Privacy Act, 

RCW 9.73.030, and evidence rule violations. Without a signed 

declaration, Grant filed the unsworn, illegally obtained transcript of the 

recording in violation ofNinth Circuit precedent, see Feldman v. Allstate, 

322 F.3d 660, 666-667 (9th Cir. 2003), in hopes that his stature and the 

incendiary nature of the recorded conversation would steer the focus of the 

trial judge to the ends, as opposed to first ruling on the means. Grant's 

ruse worked. When hearsay and privacy act objections were not ruled on, 

and instead the Federal Court intimated that it was going to entertain the 
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validity of the recorded unsworn statues, Petitioner saw little hope in the 

Court holding Grant accountable for his violations.3 

Hoping that at least some Court would not ignore what is clearly 

unethical and illegal conduct, Netlogix and Scott Akrie filed suit for 

violations of the Privacy Act. (CP 1-12). Mr. Dillon sought to join the 

lawsuit as a party, but the Superior Court denied the motion for joinder. 

The case proceeded with Akrie and his company as the only plaintiff 

parties. The Superior Court dismissed the claims of Mr. Akrie and his 

company, based on lack of standing. Essentially, because they were not 

parties to the conversation, the Court ruled they did not have standing to 

bring an RCW 9.73.030 claim.4 

The law interpreting the SLAPP statute was sparse, but 

Washington's statute was modeled directly after the California SLAPP 

statute (See Aronson v. Dog Eat Dog Films, Inc., 738 F Supp 2d, 1104, 

1109 (W.D Wa 2010) (Washington statute mirrors California statute)), 

which has found as settled law that illegal recording, wiretapping, and 

invasion of privacy even by lawyers in a midst of a lawsuit is not conduct 

3 The Federal Court did tell Counsel not to be proud of his actions in 
having a $28 million dollar lawsuit against his client dismissed based upon 
his activities. 
4 Mr. Dillon obviously had standing, but because the Court refused to 
allow him to join the case, the case was dismissed and Mr. Dillon filed 
separately. 
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protected by the SLAPP statues. Gerbasi v Gaims, 122 Cal Rptr 3d 73, 82 

(Cal. App. 2011). Despite this, the respondents in this case argued that the 

SLAPP statute applied because they were being sued for filing documents 

in a judicial proceeding, and that Petitioner could not prove his case under 

the Privacy Act, because Petitioner suffered harm by the filing of the 

illegal recording, not by the fact that a recording was taken because he was 

not the recorded party. 

Consequently, rather than being punished by submitting rank 

hearsay, and the fruits of an illegal act, Mr. Grant was rewarded for his 

exercise of "First Amendment Rights" as the defendants received a 

$10,000 award under SLAPP and over $20,000 in attorney's fees. (CP 

179-180). The Court did not award $10,000 to each defendant dismissed 

in the case in the CR 12(b)(6) action presumably because of the odious 

nature of the legal conduct involved, but also because each defendant 

could not possibly have engaged in protected activity under SLAPP, and 

in fact, the recording of a telephone call without permission is not legally 

protected activity under SLAPP. Asking questions of a witness on a 

telephone is not protected activity; neither is sitting at a transcription 

machine and recording a conversation. The act of filing the recorded 

conversation was the protected activity under the statute. Since Netlogix 

and Mr. Akrie were not a party to the telephone conversation, but were 
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merely harmed by its introduction into evidence and its publication on a 

website, the SLAPP statute apparently applied and a $10,000 penalty 

assessed, and then the claims dismissed for lack of standing. (CP 177-

178). 

Having success in the trial court, and having no officer of the 

Court willing to even criticize the conduct at the time, the defendants 

appealed the trial court's reward and requested $10,000 for each defendant 

even though none of them were actually engaging in activity the anti

SLAPP statute meant to protect. 

The Court of Appeals could not overturn the trial court because 

Petitioners could not afford to appeal when the penalty was so steep, 

risking $400 per hour in defendants attorneys' fees when its lawsuit had 

been dismissed, and a Federal Judge and a Trial Court judge had not even 

criticized the conduct in obtaining the recordings. Nevertheless, Petitioner 

argued that the penalty should not be increased when the reason for the 

dismissal of the claim was for lack of standing and each defendant had not 

engaged in protected activity, nor could they, as only the lawyers based 

upon judicial immunity were protected by filing documents in a Federal 

Court. The Court of Appeals, however, held that each defendant is entitled 

to $10,000 because each was a movant under the SLAPP statute without 

regard to what conduct that defendant was actually engaged in. 
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IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Two Court of Appeals Decisions Create a Conflict as One 
Decision Rewards Conduct Which The Other Found Not To Be 
Protected Activity, Resulting in a Cumulative Penalty Award To 
Parties that Did Not Engage In Protected Activity. 

The record and facts are clear. Recording a conversation with a 

witness to a lawsuit is not protected activity under the SLAPP Statute. 

Lying to a witness, recording a conversation, or typing up a transcript are 

not the type of conduct the legislature sought to protect in RCW 4.24.525. 

These activities were not protected public participation or petitioning the 

government, but instead were unethical at best, and potentially criminal. 

The Petitioners brought a claim under the Privacy Act, RCW 9.73.030, 

alleging that the five defendants engaged in illegally recording the 

conversation of a witness in a lawsuit, without the witnesses' permission. 

The trial court, however, found that the Petitioners' damages flowed from 

the ill-gotten recording being filed in a lawsuit. Filing the documents, no 

matter how odiously obtained, triggered the anti-SLAAP statute, RCW 

4.24.525(2)(b ), which reads "As used in this section an action involving 

public participation and petition includes (b) any oral statements made, or 

written statement or other document submitted in connection with an 

issue under consideration or review by a legislative, executive or judicial 

proceeding . . . " In short, for purposes of the statute, the attorney shielded 
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his conduct from scrutiny by filing the documents and implicating the 

statute. The attorney's protected and financially rewarded conduct, 

however, should not be expanded to provide reward to those that merely 

schemed to help obtain the evidence, merely because the plaintiff bringing 

the claims was ultimately not found to have standing under the Privacy 

Act to redress the wrongs. 

Normally, a defendant m an ordinary private dispute cannot take 

advantage of the anti-SLAPP statute simply because the complaint 

contains some references to speech or petitioning activity by the 

defendant. Martinez v. Metabolife Intern., Inc., 113 Ca.App.4th 181 (Cal. 

App. 2003). Tangential connections to some form of protected activity 

should not subject a cause of action to an anti-SLAPP statute. /d. at 188. 

Here the protected activity was a lawyer filing documents in a judicial 

proceeding, not the acts of obtaining, listening to, or recording a statement 

being made, particularly when those activities are forbidden under the law 

and not legally protected by the SLAPP statute. See Dillon v. Seattle 

Deposition Reporters, Cause No. 69300-0-I. 

The act of recording a conversation cannot be considered a 

"statement" nor is it protected activity because sitting in a room taking 

notes or transcribing a conversation is not First Amendment Activity. See 

City ofSeattle v. McConahy, 86 Wn. App. 557, 567-69 (1997). The act of 
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transcribing and listening to a conversation cannot be considered protected 

activity because the court reporters and others engaged in the activity are 

not expressing anything, nor are they conveying any messages, they are 

simply taking a verbatim recording of someone else. Consequently, none 

of the activities involved in obtaining and creating the recording can be 

defined as an action involving public participation and petition. 

Furthermore, Petitioner did not allege that each defendant filed the 

documents or provided the documents to public media. See CP 1-12. The 

Trial Court found that the protected activity that triggered the anti-SLAPP 

protection and penalty statute was the actual dissemination of documents 

into the Court. Petitioner disagreed that attorneys could shield themselves 

by filing the fruits of the poisonous tree, but had no sufficient means to 

rectify such an odd result on appeal. This protection of the lawyer, 

however, should not have provided anti-SLAPP protection to all 

defendants, who subsequently were dismissed after a finding that the 

Petitioner had no standing to bring claims under the Privacy Act since they 

were not the party recorded, merely parties harmed by use of the 

recording. Consequently, although not all the defendants engaged in 

protected activity, all were dismissed on a CR 12(b)(6) motion for lack of 

standing. This should not entitled them all to cumulative $10,000 penalty 

awards, because the Court of Appeals has found that the primary activity, 
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i.e., recording a conversation is not protected activity even when it's done 

for the benefit of lawyers in a lawsuit. 

This Court should accept review of this decision to reconcile the fact 

that only those defendants engaged in protected activity under the anti-

SLAPP statute are entitled to a $10,000, as opposed to penalty damages 

being given to each defendant who tangentially helped an attorney 

defendant in furtherance of his "protected" activity. 

B. Cumulative Penalties Awarded to Nominal Defendants not 
Engaged in Protected Activities Violate the Petitioner's 
Constitutional Right to Petition Protected by Article 1, Section 10 
of the Washington State Constitution and the Eighth Amendment 
to the United States Constitution Prohibition Against Excessive 
Fines. 

The cumulative penalty of $10,000 per defendant chills a party's 

ability to try and redress his own rights, and is grossly disproportionate to 

the gravity of the Petitioner offense of trying to impose ethical rules on the 

legal profession. Under this Court of Appeals decision, Petitioners will 

now have a judgment entered against them in excess of $70,000 because 

the Petitioner's sought redress for a lawyer lying to a witness and secretly 

recording the witness conversation. Not a single, credible lawyer 

considers recording a witness statement without permission acceptable 

under the Rules of Professional Conduct or the law. Petitioners will suffer 

a $70,000 judgment, entered without discovery, without a jury, without a 
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fact finding, without credibility determinations, but instead just a 

procedure that gave a lawyer a legal carrot to avoid penalty because he 

filed an illegal recording. Petitioners must accept that the $10,000 penalty 

and the excess of $20,000 in fees were paid as a lesson learned, but when 

the Court system seeks to impose $50,000 in penalties for the actions in 

this case, the anti-SLAPP statute becomes an unconstitutional impediment 

to the very right to petition it seeks to protect and imposes a punitive fine 

that shocks the conscience considering the activities the judicial system 

would be rewarding. 

The Washington anti-SLAPP Act is intended to address lawsuits 

brought primarily to chill the valid exercise of the constitutional rights of 

free speech and petition for redress. The legislature found that it is in the 

public interest for citizens to participate in matters of public concern, and 

to provide information on public issues that affect them without fear of 

reprisal through abuse of the judicial process. RCW 4.24.525; Senate Bill 

6395, Laws of 2010, Ch. 118 § 1. The law provides, in relevant part, that 

"[a] party may bring a special motion to strike any claim that is based on 

an action involving public participation" as defined in the statute. RCW 

4.24.525(a). The section applies to "any claim, however characterized, that 

is based on an action involving public participation and petition." RCW 

4.24.525(2). The question here, is who was actually abusing the legal 
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process, the party seeking redress for a witness in its case having his 

conversation recorded without his permission and being filed in the 

Federal Court, or the party that illegally recorded the conversation, and 

then filed it when the witness refused to sign a declaration regarding the 

conversation under oath? 

The anti-SLAPP law provides relief to a defendant which is in the 

nature of immunity from suit. Batzel v. Smith, 333 F.3d 1018, 1025 (9th 

Cir.2003) (addressing California's anti-SLAPP statute). In passing the law, 

the Washington legislature noted concern regarding both the chilling 

effect on the valid exercise of the constitutional right of freedom of 

speech, and the chilling effect of "the costs associated with defending such 

suits." RCW 4.24.525, notes 2010 Ch. 118. The statute regulates one 

petitioner's right to be free from another petitioner right based upon the 

content of their speech. This triggers a delicate balance, which can be 

unfairly tipped as it clearly was in this case. 

Any statute that purports to regulate such speech based on its 

content is subject to strict scrutiny. Burson v Freeman, 504 U.S. 191, 198, 

112 S.Ct. 1846 (1991) (state's content-based regulation of political speech 

subject to strict scrutiny); State of Washington v. 119 Vote No! Comm., 

135 Wash.2d 618, 628, 957 P.2d 691(1998). Under this standard, the 

State must demonstrate that a statute that regulates the content of speech 
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"is necessary to serve a compelling state interest and that it is narrowly 

drawn to achieve that end.'" Burson, 504 U.S. at 198, 112 S.Ct. 1846 

(quoting Perry Educ. Ass'n v. Perry Local Educators' Ass'n, 460 U.S. 37, 

45, 103 S.Ct. 948,74 L.Ed.2d 794 (1983). 

Here the Court should determine whether the cumulative penalty 

provisions, when applied to those that did not engage in activity a statute 

is designed to protect gives a chilling effect to those trying to assert their 

own right to petition in the Court system. Clearly the lawyer conduct at 

issue in this case is not the type that is usually protected, at least much of 

it. We know from John Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Center, 117 Wn.2d 

772 (1991) that pursuant to article 1, section 10 of the Washington State 

Constitution, a "Plaintiff has a right of access to the courts." !d. at 780. 

The Court reaffirmed this fact in striking down RCW 7.70.150's 

requirement that a party file a certificate of merit before being able to 

bring a medical malpractice cause of action. See Putnam v. Wenatchee 

Valley Medical Center, 166 Wn.2d 974 (2009). 

The anti-SLAPP statute is supposed to strike a balance between the 

rights of persons to file lawsuits and to trial by jury and the rights of 

persons to participate in matters of public concern. "Laws of 2010, ch. 

118, §1 (2)(a). In this case the issue was evidence gathering, and whether 

a party's right to file evidence regardless of how obtained, supersedes the 
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right of a person to bring a lawsuit to hold a party accountable for 

violating the law in obtaining the evidence. However, when the Court 

further restricts the right of a party to seek redress those accountable for 

the obtaining of evidence, in addition to the lawyers that file it, by 

excessive and cumulative penalties, the right of a party to file a lawsuit 

and have a jury decide issues is lost. 

The Court in Dillon v. Seattle Deposition Reporters, Cause No.

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