RECEIVED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
Feb 21, 2014, 1:01 pm  
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER  
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

**SUPREME COURT NO. 89820-1**

Court of Appeals No. 68345-4-I

---

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

SCOTT AKRIE, et al.,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

JAMES GRANT, et ux, et al.,

Defendants/Appellees.

---

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

Michael E. Kipling  
Marjorie A. Walter  
Timothy M. Moran  
Kipling Law Group, PLLC  
3601 Fremont Ave N, Suite 414  
Seattle, Washington 98103  
(206) 545-0345

Counsel for Defendants/Appellees  
James Grant, et ux, et al.

 ORIGINAL

**

## **I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS**

This Answer to Petition for Review is filed on behalf of Respondents James Grant; Cassandra Kennan; Davis Wright Tremaine, LLP; Seattle Deposition Reporters, LLC; and T-Mobile USA, Inc. (“Grant, et al.”). The Respondents in this Court were Defendants in the trial court and Appellants in the Court of Appeals, with respect to the decision challenged by Petitioners Akrie and Netlogix (“Akrie”).

## **II. RESPONSE TO STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

1. In response to Issue 1:

a. Akrie now seeks affirmative relief modifying the decision of the trial court, but any such relief was waived because Akrie did not seek review of the decision by way of a timely-filed Notice of Appeal. RAP 2.4(a).

b. All five Defendants in the trial court collectively filed an anti-SLAPP motion and the court found that “Defendants have shown [...] that the claims herein are based on an action involving public participation and petition.” Akrie cannot now challenge this conclusion. RAP 2.4(a).

2. In response to Issues 2 and 3:

a. Akrie did not raise these issues at the trial court and they were not briefed at the Court of Appeals;

b. Application of the clear language of the anti-SLAPP statute in this case to award statutory damages to five moving

parties, each of whom Akrie chose to name as a defendant, does not constitute error, let alone manifest error;

c. In any event, there is no basis in the record to support Akrie's new arguments.

### **III. RESPONSE TO STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Akrie's Statement of the Case is argumentative and misleading. To the extent Akrie actually discusses the trial court record, he continues to make the same misstatements of fact that the trial court rejected. (Akrie did not seek review of that decision.) The actual record is clear.

The claims in this action arose in the context of a federal court lawsuit between Akrie's company, Netlogix, and T-Mobile: *Volcan Group, Inc. d/b/a Netlogix v. T Mobile USA, Inc.*, 2:10-cv-00711 RSM (W.D. Wash.) ("the Federal Litigation"). Defendants Grant and Kennan of Davis Wright Tremaine LLP ("DWT") represented T-Mobile in the Federal Litigation.

Akrie's claims arose from the fact that T-Mobile (represented by DWT, Grant, and Kennan) filed a motion and supporting papers in the Federal Litigation seeking to dismiss the case on the basis of spoliation and fabrication of evidence. *See* Clerk's Papers ("CP") 1 – 12 (Summons and Complaint); CP 15 – 26 (Motion to Strike SLAPP Claims and Dismiss); CP 177 – 78 (Order Granting SLAPP Motion). On March 14, 2012, Judge Martinez dismissed that federal case with prejudice, concluding that Akrie and his employee Jason Dillon were "complicit in

[a] pattern of dishonesty,” engaged in “willful spoliation of evidence” and “elected to continue spinning a web of lies.” *Volcan Group, Inc. d/b/a Netlogix v. Omnipoint Communications, Inc., dba T-Mobile; T Mobile USA, Inc.*, 940 F. Supp. 2d 1327, 1337 (W.D. Wash. 2012). The Ninth Circuit has since affirmed the dismissal. 2014 U.S. App. LEXIS 451 (9th Cir. Wash., Jan. 9, 2014).

Akrie filed this action while the spoliation motion was pending in the Federal Litigation before Judge Martinez. CP 1-12 (Summons and Complaint). Shortly after the Complaint in this matter was filed, all five Defendants brought a motion under the anti-SLAPP statute (RCW 4.24.525) to dismiss the claims and to award statutory damages and attorneys’ fees. CP 15-26 (Motion). Both the context of the claims alleged in the Complaint and the allegations in the Complaint, themselves, made it clear that Akrie’s claims were based on Defendants’ “public participation and petition” and were subject to Washington’s Anti-SLAPP statute (RCW 4.24.525). CP 177-78 (Order), Report of Proceedings 51 (Judge Andrus’ ruling from the bench). *See* discussion, *infra*.

Akrie filed a notice of appeal shortly after entry of the judgment (CP 181-87), and Grant, et al. filed a notice of cross-appeal on February 29, 2010 (CP 188-96). Akrie then filed an amended notice of appeal on March 13, 2012 to correct the caption (CP 197-203), but subsequently withdrew this appeal. By letter dated April 9, 2012 from Court of Appeals Administrator/Clerk Richard D. Johnson, the cross-appellants (Grant, et al.) were re-designated as Appellants and Akrie and Netlogix as

Respondents. After they were re-designated as Respondents, Akrie and Netlogix never attempted to cross-appeal the trial court's decision.

**IV. ARGUMENT: NONE OF THE PURPORTED "ISSUES" IN THE PETITION MEETS THE CRITERIA IN RAP 13.4**

The Petition for Review does not specifically address any of the RAP 13.4 criteria that govern review by this Court, although it alludes to a recent decision in a "linked" case, *Dillon v. Seattle Deposition Reporters* ("*Dillon*"), 2014 Wash. App. LEXIS 123 (Jan. 21, 2014) and mentions the Eighth Amendment and Article I, section 14 of the Washington Constitution, concerning cruel and unusual punishment. To the extent these are Petitioners' asserted grounds for review, they are wrong on both counts.

**A. There Is No Conflict Between The Decision Here And That In *Dillon***

Akrie's argument, that there is a conflict between the decision of the Court of Appeals here and that in *Dillon*, is remarkable. First, Akrie did not seek review of the trial court's holding in this case that all of the Defendants had established that Akrie's claims were based on their actions involving public participation and petition. CP 177-78, RP 51.

RAP 2.4(a) provides that:

[T]he appellate court will grant a respondent affirmative relief by modifying the decision which is the subject matter of the review only (1) if the respondent also seeks review of the decision by the timely filing of a notice of appeal or a notice of discretionary review, or (2) if demanded by the necessities of the case.

Akrie withdrew his Notice of Appeal, so he clearly does not “seek[ ] review of the decision” by way of a timely-filed notice of appeal. Further, Akrie points to nothing in the record of this case that would justify treatment under subpart (2) of the rule. Indeed, there are no “necessities of the case” that require the Court to award affirmative relief to Akrie at this point. *See, e.g., Ortblad v. State*, 88 Wn. 2d 380, 561 P.2d 201 (1977) (respondent’s argument that denial of damages was error would not be considered because respondent had not filed a notice of appeal); *Simpson Timber Co. v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co.*, 19 Wn. App. 535, 576 P.2d 437 (1978) (trial court granted summary judgment as to some of plaintiff’s claims but denied it as to others; on plaintiff’s appeal, the court refused to consider defendant’s argument that denial of summary judgment on certain claims was error because defendant had not filed for cross review); *Wagner v. Beech Aircraft Corp.*, 37 Wn. App. 203, 680 P.2d 425 (1984) (appellate court refused to consider respondent’s request to disallow certain offsets because it was a request for affirmative relief and the respondent had not filed a separate notice of appeal).

Second, in this case there is no dispute that Akrie’s claims arose from Defendants’ filing of a motion in the Federal Litigation, regardless of whatever Akrie argues now about an allegedly improper “recording.” Neither Akrie nor Netlogix was a party to the conversations that were allegedly “recorded.”<sup>1</sup> Thus, although the Complaint purported to allege

---

<sup>1</sup> Although it is not pertinent to this Petition, it should be noted that, contrary to Akrie’s hyperbole, the “recording” at issue was actually a transcript of the phone calls

claims under RCW 9.73.060, no such claims were available to *these Plaintiffs* because it is well established that “[t]he right protected by the action for invasion of privacy is a personal right, peculiar to the individual whose privacy is invaded.” Restatement (Second) of Torts, § 652I cmt a. “The cause of action is not assignable, and it cannot be maintained by other persons ...” *Id.*; *see also Jeckle v. Crotty*, 120 Wn. App. 374, 382, 85 P.3d 931, 936 (2004) (a physician cannot assert a right of privacy in his patients’ records). The only conceivable injury to the Plaintiffs, in this context, arose when the transcripts were filed and used in the Federal Litigation.

Indeed, Akrie ignores his own Complaint in the trial court, which confirms that it was the filing of the transcripts “through the federal court ECR (*sic*) and PACER system” that supposedly caused harm to his reputation and that of Netlogix. CP 8 (Complaint, ¶ 3.12); CP 20-21 (Motion to Strike, pp. 6-7). Akrie also ignores his own allegations that his claims were based on the *dissemination* of the transcripts. *See* CP 9-10 (Complaint, ¶¶ 4.3, 5.2). As the trial court properly concluded, the only “dissemination” of the transcripts was the filing in the Federal Litigation. CP 29 (Grant Decl. in Support of Defendants’ Motion to Strike, ¶ 10).<sup>2</sup>

---

(which no court in any jurisdiction has ever found to be a “recording”) and the conversation at issue clearly was not a “private conversation.”

<sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs further alleged “[u]pon information and belief” that someone may have contacted media outlet Law360 and “alerted them” to the intention to file the transcripts. CP 8 (Complaint, ¶ 3.11); *see also* CP 38 (Opp. to Mot. to Strike, p. 7). But, there was no such conversation (CP 30 (Grant Decl. in Support of Mot. to Strike, ¶ 12)) and (had it occurred) it would likewise have been protected activity for purpose of the anti-SLAPP Statute. CP 20-21 (Mot. to Strike, pp. 6-7 n.7).



Thus, it is clear that the trial court's conclusion that the anti-SLAPP Statute applied here was correct. The anti-SLAPP statute "applies to any claim, *however characterized*, that is based on an action involving public participation and petition." RCW 4.24.525(2) (emphasis added). "An action involving public participation and petition" includes "any oral statement made, or written statement or other document submitted, in a legislative, executive *or judicial proceeding* or other governmental proceeding authorized by law." RCW 4.24.525(2)(a) (emphasis added). The Respondents here who are also parties in the *Dillon* case disagree with the Court of Appeals' decision in that matter (and have filed a petition for review with this Court), but there is no reasonable argument that the decision in that case conflicts with the decision in this one.

**B. Akrie Cannot Raise A "Constitutional Issue" For The First Time In This Court**

Akrie now argues that the statutory damages called for by the anti-SLAPP Statute violate his "right to petition" under both the Washington State and U.S. Constitutions and are an "excessive fine," in violation of the latter. Petition, pp. 1-2. Akrie never raised either issue at the trial court, nor were the issues briefed at the Court of Appeals. Indeed, while the Court of Appeals *sua sponte* raised a similar issue as a *hypothetical* question during oral argument, the panel in that Court clearly believed that the issue was not present on the record presented to it. "We are not called upon to address whether the mandatory statutory damage award may be unconstitutional as applied in a case involving a large number of

defendants.” 315 P.3d at 571, n.8. That, the Court concluded, “is a question that we leave for another day.” *Id.*

Of course, the general rule is that this Court will not consider an issue that is raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a). The same rule provides an exception for a manifest error affecting a constitutional right, but “we construe the exception narrowly by requiring the asserted error to be (1) manifest and (2) ‘truly of constitutional magnitude.’ (citations omitted) RAP 2.5(a)(3) was not designed to allow parties “a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can ‘identify a constitutional issue not litigated below.’” *State v. WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn.2d 595, 602 (1999).

Where, as here, “the record from the trial court is insufficient to determine the merits of the constitutional claim, then the claimed error is not manifest and review is not warranted.” *Id.* Akrie’s Petition offers no help in this regard. It is devoid of citations to the record in support of his newly-raised claims, containing only the hyperbolic argument of counsel.

And in fact, there is nothing in the trial court record to support Akrie’s new arguments regarding his “right to petition” and “excessive fines.” There is no evidence that an award of statutory damages to each of the Respondents would “chill the valid exercise” of Akrie’s right to petition the courts. (Indeed, Akrie’s track record leads to the opposite conclusion.)<sup>3</sup> Nor does the record contain any basis to show that the

---

<sup>3</sup> Even after Akrie was sanctioned for “overwhelming evidence of spoliation” and found to be “complicit in . . . dishonesty” by Judge Martinez (940 F. Supp. 2d at 1335, 1337) and after Judge Andrus awarded over \$30,000 in statutory damages and fees, Akrie’s accomplice Jason Dillon and Akrie’s counsel herein filed yet another lawsuit against three of the five Respondents.

award of damages constitutes an excessive fine that is “grossly disproportional” to the underlying conduct of Petitioners, or any support for the new “Due Process” argument. *State v. WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn. 2d at 602.

Remarkably, Akrie relies on *State v. WWJ Corp.* for the proposition that the record is sufficient to resolve their new arguments, but *WWJ* actually shows the opposite. Pet. for Review, pp. 16-17. In *WWJ*, this Court rejected an attempt to introduce new issues on appeal because the trial court record was “insufficiently developed to evaluate [the] merits” of the new claims. 138 Wn. 2d. at 603-04. In that case, as here, the record was grossly inadequate for this Court to resolve the newly-asserted claims.

*WWJ* also undercuts Akrie’s argument that the new claims are “truly of constitutional magnitude.” *Id.* at 602. As this Court recently affirmed, it is a “well-established principle that statutes are presumed constitutional.” *League of Educ. Voters v. State*, 176 Wn. 2d 808, 818 (2013). As such, “[t]he party challenging a statute’s constitutionality ‘must prove that the statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt.’” *Id.* at 820. Here, there is no showing, let alone proof beyond a reasonable doubt, that an award of statutory damages to the five defendants, as the Court of Appeals found was required under RCW 4.25.525(6)(a), denies Akrie meaningful access to the courts.

As for his other arguments, Akrie does not establish that the Excessive Fines Clause is applicable to the States, nor that it protects

corporations as well as individuals. This Court found that both of these questions were unresolved at the time of the *WWJ* decision and Akrie offers no authority that those questions have since been resolved in his favor. *WWJ*, 138 Wn. 2d at 604, n.6.

Akrie seems to be arguing that an award of \$10,000 to each of five Defendants, each of whom he chose to sue, is on its face an excessive penalty. But in *WWJ*, this Court found that a civil penalty ten times higher – \$500,000 – was *not* facially unconstitutional under a Due Process analysis. *Id.* at 606-07.

For all these reasons, the Court should refuse to consider Akrie’s “constitutional” arguments relating to the “right to petition” and “excessive fines,” which he raises for the first time in this Court.

## V. CONCLUSION

None of the Issues identified in the Petition fit within the RAP 13.4(b) criteria for the acceptance of review by this Court. As to the first issue, Akrie seeks affirmative relief modifying the decision of the trial court, but he waived the right to such relief when he chose not to seek review of the decision by way of a timely-filed Notice of Appeal. RAP 2.4(a). Moreover, Akrie’s argument that the decision here is in conflict with that in *Dillon* ignores at least two fundamental distinctions between the records in the two cases.